IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DAVID BURNS,

Appellant,

٧.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Feb 28 2019 10:40 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 77424

District Court Case No. C267882-2

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Appeal from Order Denying Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

RESCH LAW, PLLC d/b/a Conviction Solutions Jamie J. Resch Nevada Bar Number 7154 2620 Regatta Dr., Suite 102 Las Vegas, Nevada, 89128 (702) 483-7360

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

I. JURISDICTION

This is an appeal from the denial of a post-conviction petition for writ of habeas corpus in State v. David Burns, Case No. C267882-2. The written judgment of conviction was filed on May 5, 2015. 11 AA 2281. The trial court's order denying post-conviction relief was filed October 25, 2018. 12 AA 2623. A timely notice of appeal was filed on November 8, 2018. 12 AA 2651. This Court has appellate jurisdiction over the instant appeal under NRS 34.575(1), NRS 34.830, NRS 177.015(1)(b) & NRS 177.015(3).

II. ROUTING STATEMENT (RULE 17)

It appears this matter is not presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals, as it is a post-conviction appeal which arises from a Category A felony. See NRAP 17(b)(1).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Whether Burns' state or federal constitutional rights were violated when the trial court refused to grant relief on a claim that Burns was deprived of his direct appeal.

- B. Whether trial counsel provided constitutionally ineffective assistance throughout the trial including by: 1) Failing to move to exclude improperly noticed cellular phone expert witness testimony, 2) Failing to discover, or challenge the State's withholding of, exculpatory information concerning a key prosecution witness, 3) Ineffectively opening the door to damaging and otherwise inadmissible evidence, 4) Failing to challenge prosecutorial misconduct, 5) Failing to move to strike the death penalty as a sentencing option based on Burns' ineligibility for it, 6) Failing to properly handle a juror note, and 7) Failing to effectively represent Burns at the time of sentencing.
- C. Whether the cumulative effect of errors throughout the trial warrant reversal of Appellant's convictions and sentences.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant David Burns ("Burns") was charged with murder and attempt murder, both with use of a deadly weapon, along with other serious crimes. 1 AA 1. The incident which led to these charges occurred on August 7, 2010, and resulted in Derecia Newman being shot and killed, while twelve year old Devonia Newman was shot and survived.

The state filed notice of its intent to seek the death penalty against Burns. 1 AA 9. The case was extensively litigated for several years before it proceeded to trial in 2015. 2 AA 328.¹ On day twelve of the trial proceedings, a stipulation was reached in which the State agreed to waive its right to seek the death penalty against Burns in the event of a conviction for first degree murder. 8 AA 1723. The jury ultimately did return guilty verdicts on all charges, including first degree murder. 11 AA 2269.

-

¹The trial transcript is provided in the appendix starting with day six. Days one through five contain the jury selection. No issues are raised in this appeal concerning the selection of jurors.

Burns was sentenced on April 23, 2015. 11 AA 2274. The trial court sentenced him to life without possibility of parole, which remains the controlling sentence.

No direct appeal was ever filed. Instead, Burns filed a proper person petition for writ of habeas corpus on October 13, 2015. 11 AA 2284. That petition was denied by the trial court. 11 AA 2380. However, this Court reversed that decision and ordered that counsel be appointed to assist Burns with his claims. 11 AA 2390. Undersigned counsel was appointed and filed a supplemental petition on Burns' behalf. 11 AA 2394.

The trial court held an evidentiary hearing on the deprivation of appeal claim. 12 AA 2566. Following the hearing, the trial court issued an order that denied relief on all post-conviction claims including the deprivation of appeal claim. 12 AA 2623. This appeal followed.

V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts required to understand the claims in this appeal include facts from the events leading up to and at trial, trial proceedings related to the alleged appellate waiver, and the post-conviction evidentiary hearing.

Facts related to trial proceedings

As indicated in the charging document, Burns was charged with murder, robbery, and other serious crimes. The State alleged that Burns, an associate named Willie Mason, and a third individual identified as Stephanie Cousins, killed and robbed Derecia Newman. 1 AA 4. Newman lived in an apartment with Cornelius Mayo, and the two of them sold drugs for a living. 2 AA 337. Cousins had previously purchased drugs from Derecia, which is what apparently led the group to her apartment the night of the offense. 2 AA 342.

Although Burns did not own a cellular phone, the State noticed several "custodian of records" witnesses from phone companies. These included Metro PCS, T-Mobile, and Nextel. 1 AA 14.

Also prior to trial, the defense moved for the disclosure of any deals made to potential state witnesses, including Mayo. 1 AA 21. Mayo was present the night of the shooting, and had admitted to police that drugs were present in the apartment. 1 AA 21. As explained in a declaration of arrest, cocaine was found both in the apartment and in Mayo's shoe the

night of the incident. 12 AA 2478. The defense correctly noted that while these events led to serious felony charges, the cases against Mayo were delayed for over four years pending trial in Burns' case. 1 AA 22. A second felony case also had languished for three years and counting. 1 AA 22.

It was obvious the State intended for Mayo to testify as a witness against Burns. Therefore, the defense sought disclosure of any benefits Mayo received from the State by way of the long continuances his cases received. 2 AA 290. However, at a hearing on the issue, the State represented that the only benefit was the continuances themselves – not any agreement to a particular outcome. 2 AA 291.

The case ultimately proceeded to a sixteen day jury trial. At trial, the State did utilize two witnesses from cellular phone companies. Kenneth LeCesne testified as the "custodian of records" from Metro PCS. 5 AA 1028. The following day, a Ray MacDonald testified on behalf of T-Mobile. MacDonald explained that, while he did not use the term custodian of records, he was part of a group within the company that "is responsible for

all subpoena and court order complaints that come[s] into our office." 6 AA 1344.

The State also presented Mayo as a witness, who did acknowledge that he had the pending criminal cases as of the time of trial, *and* that the cases had been postponed for years. 6 AA 1261. But Mayo claimed he did not know if the cases were postponed until after Burns' trial was over. 6 AA 1261. Additionally, Mayo denied that it helped him in any way in those cases to testify against Burns. 6 AA 1261. He also denied that it was any type of favor or benefit for his cases to be delayed for years. 6 AA 1263.

The appellate waiver

On the twelfth day of trial, a deal was reached between Burns and the State. As explained by counsel, if Burns was convicted of first degree murder, he "would agree that the appropriate sentencing term would be life without parole. The State has agreed to take the death penalty off the table, so they will withdraw their seeking of the death penalty." 7 AA 1530.

The agreement also included a waiver of appellate rights. But counsel explained that the waiver was limited, stating "we are not waiving any

potential misconduct during the closing statements. We understand that to be a fertile area of appeal." 7 AA 1530. The prosecutor appeared to agree, as he explained to the court that Burns "will waive appellate review of the quilt phase issues." 7 AA 1531.

The actual written agreement was also made part of the record. It provides that in exchange for the benefits of the agreement, "Defendant agrees to waive all appellate rights stemming from the guilt phase of the trial." 8 AA 1724. Burns was ultimately convicted but no direct appeal was ever filed by counsel. This was despite there being, as counsel predicted, several instances of misconduct during the State's closing argument.

Evidentiary Hearing

With assistance from counsel, Burns filed a supplemental post-conviction petition with the court. At the argument on the petition, the court only granted an evidentiary hearing on the issue of whether Burns was deprived of a direct appeal. 12 AA 2562-63.

At the evidentiary hearing, both of Burns' trial attorneys testified.

Mr. Sgro explained that the idea to approach the State about removing the

death penalty as a sentencing option was his. 12 AA 2571. The idea was born out of thinking that the trial was going as well as it could have, and that there were not many issues to appeal at that point in the trial, along with a consideration to always try and get rid of the death penalty as an option. 12 AA 2572.

On the specific topic of the scope of the agreement, Mr. Sgro believed the agreement allowed Burns to appeal misconduct during the State's closing argument. 12 AA 2575. That specific understanding is, in fact, what Mr. Sgro put on the record. 12 AA 2576. This was important because Burns had previously informed counsel that he wanted to appeal in the event he was convicted. 12 AA 2576. Mr. Sgro believed that Burns was comfortable with waiving his appeal as to potential errors that arose prior to the agreement being signed. 12 AA 2577.

Christopher Oram also testified, and confirmed that the scope of the agreement was to waive appellate rights as to items that occurred before the agreement was entered, but not as to misconduct that occurred after the agreement was signed. 12 AA 2590. Mr. Oram testified that carving

out misconduct during the State's closing was a "good anticipation." 12 AA 2590. Mr. Oram explained that the agreement likewise would not waive an appeal based on anything that might occur in the future at sentencing. 12 AA 2591.

Mr. Oram explained that he represented Burns at sentencing and that he prepared a sentencing memorandum for the court. 12 AA 2592.

Mr. Oram testified that the sentencing memorandum identified two errors with the pre-sentence report. 12 AA 2592. However, the court did not permit Mr. Oram to explain what those errors were. 12 AA 2592.

Mr. Oram explained that after the sentencing, having worked on the case for years, he paid Burns one final visit in jail to close out the matter.

12 AA 2593. Oram claimed that despite Burns wanting to challenge his sentence further, Burns did not inquire about an appeal. 12 AA 2593.

Instead, Mr. Oram explained to Burns about how post-conviction worked and that he might want to pursue that avenue instead. 12 AA 2594.

Mr. Oram stated he often keeps a journal of issues that arise during trial and will provide that to the client upon request. 12 AA 2598.

Burns also testified at the hearing, and remembered the final meeting somewhat differently than did Mr. Oram. Burns explained that he did ask Oram about filing a notice of appeal during that meeting. 12 AA 2604. Burns testified that Oram provided him a "facts sheet" of issues that could be raised on appeal. 12 AA 2604. Burns testified that Oram explained to him that an appeal would be "futile" and that his better avenue was to file a post-conviction petition. 12 AA 2605. Burns was clear that he wanted his attorneys to appeal his conviction. 12 AA 2605.

After the testimony, the court indicated its belief that neither lawyer had testified whether Burns had requested an appeal "pursuant to any appellate rights that he had carved out." 12 AA 2612. The court also noted Burns "never testified that he told them to file an appeal on those issues." 12 AA 2616. The court ultimately denied the appeal deprivation claim and directed an order be prepared that denied all claims for relief.

VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The record shows that Burns informed his lawyers that he wanted to appeal in the event of a conviction, discussed potential appellate issues with his lawyers, and that the waiver of appellate rights was limited in its scope. Further, the totality of Burns' circumstances, having reserved the right to appeal certain issues and having been convicted of the most serious charges he faced, should have alerted counsel that Burns wanted to file a direct appeal. Yet, at a final discussion between counsel and Burns, counsel talked Burns out of appealing and directed him to instead seek post-conviction relief. Because Burns wanted to appeal, as any criminal defendant in his position would, counsel was obligated to have filed a notice of appeal. Burns was deprived of his direct appeal and this Court should direct the lower court clerk to file an untimely notice of appeal on Burns' behalf.

Aside from being deprived of a direct appeal, several instances of ineffective assistance of counsel affected the reliability of the jury's verdict.

These errors, alone or cumulatively, were prejudicial as there was a

reasonable probability of a more favorable verdict or sentence had the errors not occurred. As a result, the convictions and sentences should be set aside and a new trial and/or sentencing ordered.

VII. ARGUMENT

Ineffective assistance claims present mixed questions of law and fact and are subject to independent review. State v. Love, 109 Nev. 1136, 1139, 865 P.2d 322, 323 (1993); Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 980, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 (1996). A claim of ineffectiveness of counsel requires a showing that counsel acting for the defendant was ineffective, and that the defendant suffered prejudice as a result—defined as a reasonable probability of a more favorable outcome. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). To prove ineffective assistance of appellate counsel, a petitioner must demonstrate that counsel's performance was deficient in that it fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and resulting prejudice meaning the omitted issue would have a reasonable probability of success on appeal. Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 980, 998, 923 P.2d 1102 (1996). Appellate counsel need not raise every non-frivolous issue on appeal. <u>Jones v.</u>

<u>Barnes</u>, 463 U.S. 745, 751 (1983). Still, ineffectiveness may be found where counsel presents arguments on appeal while ignoring arguments that were stronger. <u>Suggs v. United States</u>, 513 F.3d 675, 678 (7th Cir. 2008).

These errors deprived Burns of his right to effective assistance of counsel under the United States and Nevada Constitutions.

A. Burns' state or federal constitutional rights were violated when the trial court refused to grant relief on a claim that Burns was deprived of his direct appeal.

This Court has noted that "an attorney has a duty to perfect an appeal when a convicted defendant expresses a desire to appeal or indicates dissatisfaction with a conviction." Lozada v. State, 110 Nev. 349, 354, 871

P.2d 944 (1994). If counsel fails to file an appeal after a convicted defendant makes a timely request, the defendant (at least previously) was entitled to the "Lozada remedy," which consisted of filing a post-conviction petition with assistance of counsel in which the actual direct appeal claims were raised. Id. The petitioner did not have to identify the potential appellate claims in making an appeal deprivation claim. Rather, it is enough to receive the relief contemplated by Lozada if a petitioner shows

that he was deprived of his right to a direct appeal without his consent. <u>Id</u>. at 357.

The remedy contemplated by <u>Lozada</u> was replaced by recent revisions to the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure, although the basis for obtaining relief remains generally the same. Now, under NRAP 4(c), an untimely notice of appeal is filed by the Clerk of the Court when a deprivation claim is timely asserted in a post-conviction petition, and, the trial court makes findings that the petitioner "has established a valid appeal-deprivation claim." NRAP 4(c), <u>see also Toston v. State</u>, 127 Nev. 971, 267 P.3d 795 (2011); <u>Roe v. Flores-Ortega</u>, 528 U.S. 470 (2000). This Court goes on to hear the direct appeal in the same manner it would hear any other direct appeal.

That Burns wanted to appeal, was dissatisfied with his sentence, and that counsel knew these facts is well established in the record. Counsel unequivocally testified that Burns had requested they appeal in the event of a conviction. 12 AA 2576. Counsel further testified that the appellate waiver was limited, in that it reserved the right to appeal likely areas of

error such as prosecutorial misconduct during the closing argument. 12 AA 2575-76. Additionally, regardless of the precise scope of the waiver, it was limited to the trial proceedings and therefore could not have, by definition, applied to the subsequent sentencing proceeding.

The trial court's denial of this claim rests heavily on what it perceived to be a lack of potential issues to appeal. 12 AA 2616. But the trial court's decision is circular, as it refused to allow testimony by counsel about errors which counsel could have raised as appellate issues, and then used the lack of testimony on that topic as a basis for denying relief on the claim. 12 AA 2592-93.

Notwithstanding the trial court's improper preclusion of that testimony, the record establishes that counsel were aware of appealable issues that were outside the scope of the waiver. Counsel's prediction was spot-on, as they repeatedly objected to misconduct by the State during its closing argument. See 9 AA 2026; 10 AA 2152; 10 AA 2154; 10 AA 2172; 10 AA 2175; 10 AA 2178; 10 AA 2188. Counsel also testified at the evidentiary hearing that a sentencing memorandum had been filed that addressed two

errors in the pre-sentence report. 12 AA 2592. The sentencing memorandum itself was received as a sealed exhibit by the trial court at sentencing, and does contain an objection to two errors in the presentence report. SA 3.²

Despite counsels' ready awareness of appealable issues in a death penalty case that resulted in a sentence of life without parole, a notice of appeal was not timely filed. While counsels' explanation for that failure leaves a lot to be desired, under State and Federal law the "reasons" for the failure are largely irrelevant. Toston, 267 P.3d at 800. Burns wanted to appeal, counsel knew that, and the failure to file a notice of appeal therefore deprived Burns of his Constitutional right to a direct appeal.

_

² Burns is only in possession of an unfiled copy of the sentencing memorandum, which he has bates labeled "SA" and submitted in paper form for filing as a sealed appendix pursuant to motion. The District Court is believed to possess the only file-stamped copy of the sentencing memorandum, and the motion alternatively asks this Court to order a copy from the District Court Clerk if the filed document is preferred to Burns' submitted, unfiled version.

A post-conviction petition that asserted a deprivation claim was timely filed. 11 AA 2394. Despite the merit of the deprivation claim, the District Court denied relief on it.

The United States Supreme Court has made clear that "We have long held that a lawyer who disregards specific instructions from the defendant to file a notice of appeal acts in a manner that is professionally unreasonable." Roe v. Flores-Ortega, 528 U.S. 470, 477 (2000). The correct and only option when confronted with a request to appeal was for counsel to file a notice of appeal. Attempting to talk a defendant out of appealing has been held to violate Flores-Ortega's holding and to require that an out-of-time appeal be granted. United States v. Waller, 2013 U.S.Dist. LEXIS 39845 (W.D. Tenn. 2013). The same should hold here where trial counsel was asked to appeal and refused to do so.

In Roe, the Supreme Court unambiguously held that where a criminal defendant is deprived of the right to a direct appeal, that defendant is "entitled to a new appeal without any further showing." Roe, 528 U.S. at 485, citing Rodriguez v. United States, 395 U.S. 327 (1969). These same

requirements are repeated in this Court's decision in <u>Toston</u>. <u>See Toston</u>, 267 P.3d at 800. The trial court's focus on what issues Burns would have raised was misplaced, because Burns testified that he specifically requested that his lawyers file a notice of appeal. 12 AA 2604.

Even if it were found that Burns did not expressly request his direct appeal, there are rational reasons to believe he would have wanted to appeal. Chiefly, he received the harshest possible sentence allowed based on his waiver of rights and the jury's verdict. This alone can indicate that a rational defendant would have wanted to appeal. Flores-Ortega, 528 U.S. at 480.

Further still, the fact the appellate agreement purported to waive some of Burns' appellate rights is no bar to relief under <u>Flores-Ortega</u>. See <u>United States v. Sandoval-Lopez</u>, 409 F.3d 1193, 1197 (9th Cir. 2005). Finally, there was no "unwisdom" to be had by an appeal. <u>Id</u>. at 1198. Burns received a sentence of life without parole for the murder and nothing that happened on a direct appeal, which could have challenged misconduct

during the State's closing or the sentence imposed, would have resulted in a harsher sentence.

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