IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DAVID BURNS,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Apr 01 2019 03:25 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 77424

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Denial of Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

JAMIE J. RESCH, ESQ. Nevada Bar #007154 Resch Law, PLLC dba Conviction Solutions 2620 Regatta Dr., Suite 102 Las Vegas, Nevada 89128 (702) 483-7360 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court properly denied each of Appellant's claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, including those regarding his appellate rights and counsel's performance at trial. First, Appellant affirmatively waived his right to a direct appeal in exchange for the State taking the death penalty off the table; and Appellant never manifested any intention of withdrawing from that Stipulation. Therefore, counsel was not ineffective for not seeking a direct appeal on Appellant's behalf, and the district court did not deny Appellant any constitutional rights in so finding. Second, counsel did not perform in an objectively unreasonable manner at trial and Appellant suffered no prejudice due to counsel's actions. Third, cumulative error does not apply to post-conviction <u>Strickland</u> claims—and even if it did, Appellant has not demonstrated that there are any errors to cumulate. This Court should affirm the district court's denial of Appellant's Petition.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT APPELLANT DID NOT RECEIVE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE REGARDING DIRECT APPEAL

Appellant complains the district court violated his state and federal constitutional rights when it denied his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel resulting in appeal deprivation. AOB at 12–18. Specifically, Appellant alleges he did not intend to waive, and in fact expressly reserved, the right to appeal any issues

arising after the waiver was entered—including those which may have occurred during closing argument—and that therefore, counsel was ineffective for not pursuing a direct appeal on Appellant's behalf. AOB at 13–14. However, as the district court found, this claim is belied by the record, including by the testimony offered at the evidentiary hearing on the underlying Petition. XII AA 2628–33.

A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel presents a mixed question of law and fact, subject to independent review." <u>Evans v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 609, 622, 28 P.3d 498, 508 (2001). The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that, "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defense." The United States Supreme Court has long recognized that "the right to counsel is the right to the effective assistance of counsel." <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2063 (1984); <u>see also State v. Love</u>, 109 Nev. 1136, 1138, 865 P.2d 322, 323 (1993).

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, a defendant must prove he was denied "reasonably effective assistance" of counsel by satisfying the two-prong test of <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 686–87, 104 S. Ct. at 2063–64; <u>see also</u> <u>Love</u>, 109 Nev. at 1138, 865 P.2d at 323. Under the <u>Strickland</u> test, a defendant must show first that his counsel's representation fell below an *objective* standard of reasonableness, and second, that but for counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceedings would have been different. 466 U.S. at

687–88, 694, 104 S. Ct. at 2065, 2068 (emphasis added); <u>Warden, Nevada State</u> <u>Prison v. Lyons</u>, 100 Nev. 430, 432, 683 P.2d 504, 505 (1984) (adopting the <u>Strickland</u> two-part test). "[T]here is no reason for a court deciding an ineffective assistance claim to approach the inquiry in the same order or even to address both components of the inquiry if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on one." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 697, 104 S. Ct. at 2069.

Defendants are entitled to "effective assistance of counsel at critical stages of a criminal proceeding." <u>Lafler v. Cooper</u>, 566 U.S. 156, 165, 132 S. Ct. 1376, 1386 (2012). This includes at sentencing in both capital and noncapital cases. <u>Id</u>. (internal citations omitted). This Court has found that in order to be effective, counsel at sentencing must be aware of the sentencing options available and present mitigating evidence, if available. <u>See Brown v. Nevada</u>, 110 Nev. 846, 851, 877 P.2d 1071, 1074 (1994). When evaluating the effectiveness of counsel at sentencing, claims are evaluated using the two-pronged test from <u>Strickland</u>. <u>Id</u>. at 848, 877 P.2d at 1072.

With all ineffective assistance claims, the court begins with the presumption of effectiveness and then must determine whether the defendant has demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence that counsel was ineffective. <u>Means v. State</u>, 120 Nev. 1001, 1011, 103 P.3d 25, 32 (2004). "Effective counsel does not mean errorless counsel, but rather counsel whose assistance is '[w]ithin the range of competence

12

demanded of attorneys in criminal cases." Jackson v. Warden, 91 Nev. 430, 432, 537 P.2d 473, 474 (1975).

Counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to make futile objections or arguments. <u>See Ennis v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 694, 706, 137 P.3d 1095, 1103 (2006). Trial counsel has the "immediate and ultimate responsibility of deciding if and when to object, which witnesses, if any, to call, and what defenses to develop." <u>Rhyne v.</u> <u>State</u>, 118 Nev. 1, 8, 38 P.3d 163, 167 (2002).

Based on the above law, the role of a court in considering allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel is "not to pass upon the merits of the action not taken but to determine whether, under the particular facts and circumstances of the case, trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance." Donovan v. State, 94 Nev. 671, 675, 584 P.2d 708, 711 (1978). This analysis does not mean that the court should "second guess reasoned choices between trial tactics nor does it mean that defense counsel, to protect himself against allegations of inadequacy, must make every conceivable motion no matter how remote the possibilities are of success." Id. To be effective, the Constitution "does not require that counsel do what is impossible or unethical. If there is no bona fide defense to the charge, counsel cannot create one and may disserve the interests of his client by attempting a useless charade." United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 657 n.19, 104 S. Ct. 2039, 2046 n.19 (1984).

"There are countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case. Even the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S. Ct. at 2065. "Strategic choices made by counsel after thoroughly investigating the plausible options are almost unchallengeable." <u>Dawson v. State</u>, 108 Nev. 112, 117, 825 P.2d 593, 596 (1992); <u>see also Ford v. State</u>, 105 Nev. 850, 853, 784 P.2d 951, 953 (1989). In essence, the court must "judge the reasonableness of counsel's challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed *as of the time of counsel's conduct.*" <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 690, 104 S. Ct. at 2066 (emphasis added). Indeed, the United States Supreme Court has recognized that:

> Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential. It is all too tempting for a defendant to secondguess counsel's assistance after conviction or adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel's defense after it has proven unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable.

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 698, 104 S. Ct. at 2065.

Even if a defendant can demonstrate that his counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, he must still demonstrate prejudice and show a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different. <u>McNelton v. State</u>, 115 Nev. 396, 403, 990 P.2d 1263, 1268 (1999) (citing <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S. Ct. at 2064). "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." <u>Id</u>. (citing <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 687–89, 694, 104 S. Ct. at 2064–65, 2068).

Finally, claims asserted in a petition for post-conviction relief must be supported with specific factual allegations, which if true, would entitle the petitioner to relief. <u>Hargrove v. State</u>, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984). "Bare" or "naked" allegations are not sufficient, nor are those belied and repelled by the record. <u>Id.; see also NRS 34.735(6)</u>.

Specifically with regard to counsel's performance in seeking a direct appeal on a defendant's behalf, when a defendant is found guilty pursuant to a plea, counsel normally does not have a duty to inform a defendant about his right to an appeal. <u>Toston v. State</u>, 127 Nev. 971, 977, 267 P.3d 795, 799–800 (2011) (citing <u>Thomas</u> <u>v. State</u>, 115 Nev. 148, 150, 979 P.2d 222, 223 (1999)). The duty arises in the guilty plea context only when the defendant inquires about the right to appeal or in circumstances where the defendant inquiries about the right to direct appeal "such as the existence of a claim that has reasonable likelihood of success." <u>Toston</u>, 127 Nev. at 977, 267 P.3d at 799.

Here, as the district court found, although Appellant did not plead guilty, the Stipulation he entered into is analogous to a guilty plea in that it waives all appellate rights and thus defense counsel would not believe a defendant would want to appeal. XII AA 2444–45, 2628–33. The Stipulation stated: Pursuant to the provisions of NRS 175.552, the parties hereby stipulate and agree to waive the separate penalty hearing in the event of a finding of guilty on Murder In the First Degree and pursuant to said Stipulation and Waiver agree to have the sentence of LIFE WITHOUT THE POSSIBILTY OF PAROLE imposed by the Honorable Charles Thompson, presiding trial judge. FURTHER, in exchange for the State withdrawing the Notice of Intent to Seek the Death Penalty, Defendant agrees to waive *all appellate rights stemming from the guilt phase of the trial*.

Id. (emphasis added).

Further, with regard to the Stipulation, the following exchange occurred on

Day 12 of trial:

MR. SGRO: The State and the defense on behalf of [Appellant] have agreed to conclude the remainder of the trial, settle jury instructions, do closings, et. cetera. If the jury returns a verdict of murder in the first degree, [Appellant] would agree that—

THE COURT: As to [Appellant].

MR. SGRO: As to [Appellant] only. [Appellant] would agree that the appropriate sentencing term would be life without parole. The State has agreed to take the death penalty off the table, so they will withdraw their seeking of the death penalty. If the verdict comes back at anything other than first degree murder and there's guilty on some of the counts, and the judge—then Your Honor will do the sentencing in the ordinary course like it would any other case. In—and I believe that states the agreement, other than there is a proviso[sic] that we, for purposes of further review down the road, we are not waiving any potential misconduct during the closing statements. We understand that to be a fertile area of appeal. The State has assured us that they are—would never do anything intentionally. The Court's been put on notice to be careful relative to the closing arguments, so that there's not unnecessary inflamed passion, et cetera, et cetera. Mr. Mason has not given up his rights to appeal, and so

there is a prophylactic safety measure that exists relative to the arguments advanced by the prosecution at the time of the closing statements.

So the long and short of it is, Your Honor, the State's agreed to abandon their seeking of the death penalty in exchange for [Appellant] is agreeing to life without after we get through the trial. Yeah. And the waiver of his appellate rights.

MR. DIGIACOMO: Correct. So that it's clear, should the jury return a guilty—a verdict of guilty in murder of the first degree or murder in the first degree with use of a deadly weapon, Mr. Mason [sic] and the State will agree to waive the penalty hearing with the stipulated life without the possibility of parole on that count, as well as he will waive appellate review of the guilt phase issues.

•••

THE COURT: In the colloquy that has been provided to me a few minutes ago, the attorneys explained to me that the State is waiving, giving up its rights to seek the death penalty in exchange for which you are agreeing, in the event the jury returns a verdict of murder in the first degree, that I will sentence you to life without the possibility of parole. Do you understand this?

[Appellant]: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Do you have any questions about it?

[Appellant]: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Do you agree with it?

[Appellant]: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: You understand that you have a right to have a penalty hearing where the jury would determine the punishment in the event they found you guilty of first degree murder?

[Appellant]: Yes sir.

THE COURT: You understand you're giving up that right to have the jury determine that punishment?

[Appellant]: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: And in exchange for which the State will waive its right to seek the death penalty against you, and you are giving—and you are agreeing that I will impose a punishment in the event that you're found guilty of murder in the first degree, I will impose a punishment of life without the possibility of parole. Do you understand that?

[Appellant]: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: You understand that there are—in the event I impose a sentence of life without the possibility of parole, you're never going to get paroled, you're never going to get out, do you understand that?

[Appellant]: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: You're also giving up your appellate rights. Do you understand that?

[Appellant]: Yes, sir.

VII AA 1529-33 (emphases added). Appellant specifically gave up all his appellate

rights, in writing and orally. The only mention of future appeal issues is specifically

as to Appellant's co-defendant-who, since he did not give up his own appeal rights,

created a "prophylactic safety measure" to prevent any misconduct during closing

arguments. Id. As the negotiations specified, Appellant would have no direct

appeal—and thus, counsel could not have been objectively unreasonable for not seeking one. XII AA 2628–33.

Appellant's claims that the scope of his wavier was limited, or that he "preserved" any appellate rights, is totally belied by the black-and-white Stipulation above and by Appellant's own admissions. Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 225. In his Petition, Appellant claimed that he did not know that "the court likes certain issues brought up through direct appeal instead of habeas" and that his attorney failed to show Appellant how to file a habeas petition as he said he would. XI AA 2286, 2297. In other words, Appellant clearly knew he was not going to be able to file an appeal at all—even a "limited" one. And yet, Appellant's Supplement claimed that "it is obvious Petitioner desired to appeal and that his attorneys knew that fact, because the scope of the purported waiver is limited to events which precede its filing." XI AA 2420. Appellant repeats the claims of a "limited waiver" on appeal. AOB at 13–14. However, as the district court found, any claim that the waiver was "limited" is belied by both the plain language of the Stipulation and by Appellant's own admissions in his Petition. He did *not* ask his attorney to file a direct appeal—even regarding any alleged appealable issues that occurred after the Stipulation was made, for example in closing arguments—because he had waived all his appellate rights altogether.

The claim of "limited" waiver is further belied by the testimony during the evidentiary hearing on the underlying Petition. Mr. Sgro testified that he did not know whether "the agreement [was] intended to bar any appellate issues that might occur at the time of sentencing." XII AA 2576. Mr. Oram agreed that the Stipulation did not contemplate preserving sentencing issues for appeal. XII AA 2591. Mr. Oram testified that he explained to Appellant that he "would not have any appellate issues," but that he would still be able to pursue habeas relief. XII AA 2589, 2594. Appellant himself confirmed this, testifying that his attorneys explained to him that he could not appeal but that he would "still have habeas corpus." XII AA 2603–05.

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